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I. STATEMENT

1. This is a civil penalty assessment (CPAN) proceeding brought by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) against the Respondent, Lawrence Torrez, doing business as Absolutely Devine Limousines (Torrez), wherein it is alleged that Torrez has violated certain Rules, Regulations, and Civil Penalties Governing Motor Vehicle Carriers Exempt from Regulation as Public Utilities at 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-33 (Exempt Carrier Rules) and/or certain Rules Regulating Safety for Motor Vehicle Carriers and Establishing Civil Penalties (Safety Rules) at 4 CCR 723-15.   

2. In CPAN No. 28017 Staff alleges that Torrez violated Rules 7.3 (no PUC stamp), 8.1 (vehicle not qualified by PUC), and 9.1 (external markings) of the Exempt Carrier Rules on December 15 and 19, 2002.  See, Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7 of Exhibit 1.  It alleges that Torrez violated Rule 2 of the Safety Rules, 49 Code of Federal Regulations Part 392.2 (violation of other state law; fictitious use of license plates) on December 19, 2002.  See, Count 4 of Exhibit 1.  The subject CPAN seeks imposition of a civil penalty in the amount of $1,400.00.

3. The matter was set for hearing at the Commission’s Offices in Denver, Colorado, on July 7, 2003, pursuant to an Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing issued by the Commission on June 16, 2003.

4. The undersigned Administrative Law Judge called the matter for hearing at the assigned time and place.  Staff appeared through Mr. John P. Opeka, a Commission Safety and Enforcement Investigator.  No appearance was entered by or on behalf of Torrez.  During the course of the hearing, Exhibits 1 through 8 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Testimony was received from Mr. Opeka in support of the allegations contained in the subject CPAN.

5. As a preliminary matter, Mr. Opeka requested that Counts 1, 2, and 3 of CPAN No. 28017 be dismissed.  That request was granted thereby reducing the total civil penalty sought in this matter to $800.00.

6. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. findings of fact

7. Torrez provides luxury limousine services within the State of Colorado pursuant to registration no. LL-01127.  The business address provided to the Commission by Torrez is 4321 E. 109th Ave., Thornton, Colorado 80233.  See, Exhibit 1.  

8. In December of 2002 the Commission’s Safety and Enforcement Division was advised that Torrez was operating a stretched Chrysler PT Cruiser (Cruiser) with external markings as a luxury limousine without having previously registered it with the Commission.  See, Exhibits 2 and 7.  Mr. Opeka was assigned to investigate this allegation.

9. On December 12, 2002, Mr. Opeka visited Torrez’ business address and observed the Cruiser parked in the driveway.  It bore Colorado license plate no. 085-FFZ.  See, Exhibits 2 and 6.  Another member of the Commission’s Safety and Enforcement Staff, Mr. Laws, then requested information from the Colorado Department of Revenue (CDR) concerning the vehicle that had been issued this license plate number.  The report issued by the CDR established that the license plate number in question had been issued to a 1962 Chevrolet Sedan owned by “L.T. Torrez.”  See, Exhibits 2 and 5.  Mr. Opeka testified that Torrez is often referred to as “L.T.” and, therefore, is the same individual shown on the CDR report.  See also, Exhibit 4.

10. On December 19, 2002, Mr. Opeka, posing as a possible customer, sent an electronic message to Torrez requesting information about renting the Cruiser for a bachelor party “after the first of the year.”  Shortly thereafter, Torrez responded by providing a telephone number and inviting questions concerning the possible rental of the vehicle.  See, Exhibit 4.  Another Commission Investigator, Mr. Lux, then called Torrez who advised him of the rental costs; a $200.00 pick-up fee, a $200.00 drop-off fee, and a 25 percent gratuity.  They also agreed to a meeting later that day at the Adams Mark Hotel in downtown Denver to inspect the vehicle.  See, Exhibit 2.

11. Mr. Opeka attended that meeting and, with Torrez’ permission, took photographs of the Cruiser.  See, Exhibit 3.  As demonstrated by those photographs, the subject vehicle was marked with external signs advertising Torrez’ luxury limousine business.  It also continued to bear Colorado license plate no. 085-FFZ.
  Mr. Opeka testified that the Cruiser did not display vehicle identification stamps issued by the Commission.  

12. On December 20, 2002, Torrez brought the Cruiser to the Commission’s offices to be inspected and to qualify it as a luxury limousine.  The Luxury Limousine Qualification Report completed by Commission Safety and Enforcement personnel indicates that the external signs had been removed.  However, it again confirmed the number of the license plate originally observed to be on the vehicle.  See, Exhibit 6.  At that time, Mr. Opeka issued CPAN No. 28017, served Torrez with a copy of the same, and witnessed him sign it. 

III. discussion; findings 

13. Rule 9.1 of the Exempt Carrier Rules provides as follows:

External signs and graphics.  A luxury limousine shall not have any exterior signs or graphics except license plates; those otherwise required by law; those attached by a law enforcement agency; those attached by the vehicle manufacturer or dealership for the purpose of identifying the manufacturer, dealership, or the vehicle’s make and model; and those attached for the purpose of indicating special events such as weddings, graduations, and parades.

See also, § 40-16-101(3)(a)(I), C.R.S.

14. Rule 7.3 of the Exempt Carrier Rules provides that vehicle identification stamps for exempt carriers obtaining a new registration, or acquiring new or additional vehicles during the year, shall be obtained and affixed to the vehicle before it is put into service.  Rule 8.1 of the Exempt Carrier Rules requires that the Commission’s Safety and Enforcement Staff inspect vehicles that are intended to be operated as luxury limousines prior to the issuance of vehicle identification stamps for qualifying vehicles.    

15. Rule 2 of the Safety Rules incorporate by reference certain federal motor carrier safety regulations, including Part 392 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  Part 392.2 requires that every motor vehicle be operated in accordance with the laws, ordinances, and regulations of the jurisdiction in which it is being operated.  Section 42-3-133(a), C.R.S., prohibits the operation of a vehicle which is not registered or “…which does not have attached thereto and displayed thereon the number plate or plates assigned thereto by the [CDR] for the current registration year.”

16. The evidence establishes conclusively that on December 19, 2002, the Cruiser contained external signage advertising Torrez’ luxury limousine business.  Exempt Carrier Rule 9.1 does not require that a luxury limousine bearing external signage be “in service” as a prerequisite to establishing a violation of that rule.  See, Decision Nos. R02-1252 and R00-156.  The Cruiser qualified as a luxury limousine under the provisions of § 40-16-101(3)(a), C.R.S. on December 19, 2002.  Therefore, the signage contained on the vehicle on that date constitutes a violation of Rule 9.1 notwithstanding the fact that the Cruiser may not have been “in service” at that time. 

17. Likewise, the evidence establishes conclusively that on December 19, 2002, the Cruiser contained a license plate that was not properly assigned to it by the CDR.  This constitutes a violation of Rule 2 of the Safety Rules since that rule effectively incorporates by reference the above-cited Colorado statute that prohibits the use of a license plate assigned by the CDR to another vehicle.

18. However, the evidence does not support a finding that Exempt Carrier Rules 7.3 and/or 8.1 were violated.  As indicated above, these rules require Commission inspection of luxury limousine vehicles and the issuance of identification stamps in connection with the same before such vehicles are placed into service.

19. There is insufficient evidence to establish that Torrez had placed the Cruiser into service on or before December 19, 2002.
   Neither Mr. Opeka nor Mr. Lux requested or were provided service by Torrez with the Cruiser on or prior to that date.  Indeed, Mr. Opeka requested service “after the first of the year.”  Torrez’ indication that the Cruiser was available at the prices quoted to Mr. Lux was in response to that request and was coupled with an indication that “he was still trying to get his paperwork together at the PUC.”  See, Exhibit 2.  He did so one day later, on December 20, 2002.  See, Exhibit 6.  It must be concluded, therefore, that Torrez’ offer to provide service with the Cruiser related to a point in time after it was to be inspected and qualified by the Commission and after the Commission had issued the necessary vehicle identification stamp. 

IV. conclUSIONS

20. Counts 5 and 7 of CPAN No. 28017 are dismissed.

21. Staff has sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in Counts 4 and 6 of CPAN No. 28017 by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  The total penalty for such violations is $400.00.  See, 4 CCR 723-33-11.4.

22. Staff has not sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in Counts 5 and 7 of CPAN No. 28017 by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.

V. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Lawrence Torrez, doing business as Absolutely Devine Limousine, is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $200.00 each in connection with Counts 4 and 6 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 28017 and shall pay the total assessed penalty of $400.00 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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� Another check with the CDR by Mr. Opeka confirmed that this license number was still assigned to a 1962 Chevrolet Sedan.


� The allegation contained in Exhibit 7 to the effect that the Cruiser was in service on December 15, 2002, relates to Counts 1, 2 and 3 of CPAN No. 28017.  As indicated above, these alleged violations were dismissed by Staff.
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